STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Defendant/Petitioner, PROVIDENCE SQUARE ASSOCIATION, INC., seeks to have the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, dated January 16, 1986 reversed and the Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of Volusia County, dated February 19, 1985 upheld.

Petitioner was the original Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff below and an Appellee before the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, CONNIE BIANCARDI, was the original Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant in the trial forum and was the Appellant before the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent petitioned the District Court of Appeal to review a decision rendered by the Circuit Court of Volusia County after hearing all of the evidence in this cause. The District Court reversed the lower court judgment and remanded the cause for further proceedings.

In this brief, the Petitioner and the Respondent will be referred to as such.

On July 1, 1981, the subject office Condominium known as Providence Square was organized with a Declaration of Condominium of Providence Square being filed in the Public Records of Volusia County, Florida. (R. 307-309) The subject Condominium, Providence Square, was a four unit condominium of equal square footage, with the end unit being divided in half to make two separate units (hereinafter referred to as units "4" and "5").

The Respondent purchased both of the end units, (unit "4" and unit "5") one on January 31, 1984 and the other on March 19, 1984. (R. 374 and 379) Prior to her purchase of those units,

she was provided copies of the Declaration of Condominium,
Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of Providence Square, a
Condominium.

The Providence Square Condominium was completely destroyed by fire on April 6, 1984. The Respondent claimed an ownership right to 40% of the insurance proceeds and common elements and filed suit for declaratory judgment. (R. 227-230) After hearing the testimony of the Respondent and the other unit owners, the trial court ruled that the condominium declarations contained a scrivener's error and it reformed the declarations to provide a 25% ownership interest in the common elements and insurance proceeds for the owners of units "1", "2" and "3" and 12.5% each for units "4" and "5". (R. 387-388) The Court found that paragraph 4.2(a) of the Condominium Declarations, which paragraph indicated that the undivided share in the land and other common elements was 20% for all five (5) units, was a mistake. the finding of the trial court that the provisions of the Declarations "were not intended to give the owners of Unit "4" and "5" 20% of any such proceeds, nor was that the understanding of any of the unit owners, including the Plaintiff." (R. 386) The court concluded that the Declaration of Condominium contained a scrivener's error and that Respondent and all other association members treated the interest in common surplus and liability for common expenses in a manner indicating the Plaintiff has a 12.5% interest for unit "4" and a 12.5% interest for unit "5", for a total interest of 25%. The Court then proceeded to reform the

Declaration of Condominium to meet the intention, conduct and course of dealings of the parties and association members. (R. 385-388)

The Respondent appealed the trial court's decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. After briefs were filed by both sides and oral arguments heard, the District Court reversed only the lower court's finding as to the appropriateness of reformation as a remedy and the finding of mutual mistake and did not disturb the factual findings of the trial court. The court held:

...Declaration of Condominium come into being by unilateral act. The only way the document may be altered is by amending it in accordance with the proper statutory prerequisites...

There are some mistakes which a court cannot correct and this is one example. The courts cannot change a Declaration of Condominium...

See the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal attached as Appendix A.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT CONDOMINIUM DECLARATIONS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO REFORMATION ON ACCOUNT OF MISTAKE OR SCRIVENER'S ERROR?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A scrivener's error in condominium declarations should be subject to reformation. This is especially true when, as in the present case, the declarations can not be amended to make provisions for an act that has already taken place (destruction). In the case at bar, the trial court found that the Respondent was fully aware that it was the intention of the condominium documents to provide the Respondent with only a 25% interest in the common elements.

Since this ownership interest was known to all parties, including the Respondent, the scrivener's error would be subject to reformation, a remedy recognized in the case of Clearwater Key Association-South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker, 431 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). The Fifth District's finding that condominium declarations are not subject to reformation should not be the law of the State of Florida. Equity mandates that errors such as these, clearly known by all parties, be subject to reformation. The Fifth District likens condominium declarations to Articles of Incorporation, City Charters and other documents filed with the Secretary of State and states that none of these documents can be reformed. Other jurisdictions have clearly held that similar documents (ie: articles of incorporation and recorded plats) are subject to reformation. The law of Florida should likewise provide a remedy for mistakes in condominium declarations other than by formal amendment.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN ITS DECISION AS A COURT OF EQUITY HAS THE POWER TO REFORM CONDOMINIUM DECLARATIONS TO CORRECT A DRAFTSMAN'S MISTAKE.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals reversed the judgment of the trial court determining that Condominium Declarations are not subject to reformation on account of mistake or scrivener's error. On pages 2 and 3 of the court's opinion the court stated the following:

Condominium Declarations like Articles of Incorporation, City Charters and other documents filed with the Secretary of State are not like deeds, mortgages or other documents subject to reformation on account of mistake or scrivener's error. deeds, etc., contemplate dealings between two or more parties, a Declaration of Condominium comes into being by unilateral act. The only way the document may be altered is by amending it in accordance with the proper statutory prerequisites. A scrivener's error or like mistake may be corrected by the developer or its successor by following the proper procedure in Tallahassee ...

Any fault or inequity alleged lies with the original draftsman of the Declaration of Condominium and related documents. There are some mistakes which a court cannot correct and this is one example. The courts cannot change a Declaration of Condominium any more than it can give a corporation or a municipality powers which are not specifically set out in their Articles of Incorporation. (See Appendix A attached hereto.)

The Petitioner has been able to find only one case in this and other jurisdictions which addresses the specific issue of whether Declarations of Condominium are subject to reformation. In Clearwater Key Association--South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the Second District Court of

Appeals considered the reformation of a Declaration of Condominium by the trial court. Although the court concluded that the reformation was invalid because the declarations, as reformed, would be in conflict with a Florida Statute, the Court stated on page 646:

Generally speaking, a court of equity has the power to reform an instrument to correct a draftsman's mistake. However, we hold that a court of equity is without power to reform an instrument because of a draftsman's mistake where the instrument, as reformed, would conflict in a material way with provisions of a controlling statute.

The Clearwater Key case stands for the proposition that Condominium Declarations can be reformed to correct a draftsman's mistake. In that case, unit owners of a condominium filed suit against the condominium association and others seeking reformation of the Declaration of Condominium and cancellation and removal of a claim of lien filed against them by the association. The Declaration of Condominium was drafted pursuant to the developer's direction. The developer in that case was United States Steel Corporation who was not a party to the Id. at 644. original action nor a party seeking reformation. The court held that condominium declarations could be reformed by the court but denied reformation in that instance because the Condominium Declarations, as reformed, would have conflicted with a controlling statute. Such conflict with a controlling statute is not an issue in the instant case.

Although Petitioner is unable to find other cases dealing with the specifics of Condominium Declarations as found here,

there are cases in other jurisdictions which have permitted similar documents to be reformed.

In the case of <u>Millspaugh v. Cassedy</u>, 191 App. Div. 221, 181 N.Y.S. 276 (Sup. Ct. App. Div. 1920), the New York court allowed the reformation of Articles of Incorporation. The court recognized the issue of reformation of this type of document as it stated:

The learned counsel for the appellants insist that the omission of the restriction in the articles of incorporation was an error of law, not to be relieved by a court of equity... They also urge that such relief is something beyond ordinary equitable remedies, in that articles of incorporation are not such a contract as may receive the high remedy of reformation by courts of equity. Id. at 281.

The court did not accept such a proposition and instead held that equity required that the instrument be reformed and the court so exercised its equitable jurisdiction and altered the articles.

In <u>Gilbert v. Williams</u>, 157 Mich. 226, 121 N.W. 739, (1909) and <u>Rice v. Kelsit</u>, 12 Minn. 511, 44 N.W. 535, (1890), the appellate courts held that errors in recorded plats of land were subject to reformation by the court. In both cases, plats duly recorded in the public records were reformed where the property was misdescribed and there was an error on the plats. In the <u>Rice</u> case, the Supreme Court of Minnesota held that a plat, which contained errors which was certified as true and correct at the time recorded, was subject to reformation. The court stated:

... that plat is a public record, but it is one in which private persons have rights, and the public is in no way interested in the matter in respect to which the correction is asked. As to that, the owners of the lots alone are interested... We think the court ought to have directed the plat to be corrected to make the numbering of the lots in the original the same as in the certified copy... Id. at 536

It is stated in 9 Fla. Jur. 2d, <u>Cancellation</u>, <u>Reformation</u> and <u>Rescission</u> of Instruments, Section 59 that:

A deed issued pursuant to sale by operation of law, in which the owner of the land does not participate and in which there can be no mutual mistake, is not subject to reformation. This is in accordance with the general rule.

In one case, however, the Supreme Court of Florida reversed a dismissal by a Circuit Court of an action seeking, in part, the reformation of the description of land contained in a tax deed. The court stated that equity is the proper forum where such reformation is necessary for the protection of rights in real property.

The case referred to in this section was <u>Crompton v. Kirkland</u>, 24 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1946). Because Respondent contends that she is entitled to 40% of all land on which the destroyed building and common elements previously existed, the principal that reformation is necessary for the protection of rights in real property should also apply here.

Although the unit owners were not parties to the original condominium declarations, the Declarations recorded in the Public Records indicate the parties to the Declarations as the Developer, "for itself, it successors, grantees and assigns." The Respondent is a successor in interest as provided for in the Declarations.

A case which clearly holds that predecessors in interest have standing to seek reformation of instruments to which they were not actual parties is General Development Corporation v.

<u>Kirk</u>, 251 So.2d 284 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971). In that case, a predecessor in title was found to have standing to sue for reformation of an instrument even though the Plaintiff was not himself a party to that instrument. In fact, the Plaintiff in <u>General Development</u> was not even the immediate predecessor in title as there were a number of other parties who were ahead of it in the chain of title. The <u>General Development</u> court stated, at page 286:

It is not "privity" but a legitimate interest warranting invocation of the judicial power of the state which ought to determine standing to sue... In this case it is clear that General Development reasonably contends that the extent of the property conveyed to the Conways determined the extent of that conveyed to Florida West Coast Land Company, it's predecessor in title. We think the courts of Florida should be open to the presentation of such a contention as this.

It is also unnecessary for the only party to a Declaration of Condominium to be joined as a party to an action to reform such Declaration. In Clearwater Key Association—South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the Court held that a court of equity has jurisdiction to reform a paragraph of a Declaration of Condominium to correct a draftsman's mistake. The Court made that statement even though the parties to that action consisted only of the Association as Plaintiff and the co-owners of the two units as Defendants. The Declarations of Condominium in Clearwater Key were drafted pursuant to the developer's direction yet the developer was not required to be a party to the action which was maintained by the successors in title.

The court must reverse the decision of the Appellate Court as it would be a harsh result to hold that even if all parties agreed that an error existed in the Declarations of Condominium, that, no matter what the result, such an error could not be corrected except by formal amendment. Amendment of the Declarations cannot always be accomplished where, as in the instant case, a fire has destroyed the condominium structure and there is no reason for the Declarations to continue to exist nor can the Declarations be amended after the fact to provide for a To hold that under no circumstance, previous occurrence. regardless of the inequities, can Declarations of Condominium be reformed, would have a grave and widespread impact in this State in light of the growth of the condominium form of ownership of real property. To affirm the Fifth District's holding in this case would prevent a remedy where there is a wrong.

The general principles of equity annunciated in Fla. Jur. 2d (1980) appropriately discusses issues relevant to the instant case. That treatise states:

A court of equity is a forum for the administration of justice. Such courts evolved from the need to grant justice in cases wherein the law courts, in view of their rigid principles, were deficient. The purpose of equity is to remedy defects in the law. Illustrative of this basic function of equity jurisprudence is the maxim, 'Equity regards as done that which ought to be done'.

A court of equity accords remedies and enforces rights in view of all the circumstances. It may grant relief that is flexible depending upon the facts. Indeed it was the very lack of flexibility in the common law to meet changing circumstance that

gave rise to equity. 22 Fla. Jur. 2d,

Equity, §2 (1980) and various cases cited therein.

That same treatise provides that:

It is the duty of equity, while keeping within the rules and principles on which its remedial jurisdiction is founded, to adapt its course of proceedings to the existing state of things. The powers of equity are broad and flexible. And the boundaries of equity are constantly being extended in order to meet the demands of a complex and advancing society.

The absence of precedents is no obstacle to the exercise of the jurisdiction of a court of equity. Equity is not shackled by rigid rules of practice or law. And although it may not assume nonexistent jurisdiction, it may amplify remedies, or avail itself of new remedies or unprecedented orders, in emergent situations where they afford necessary relief without imposing illegal burdens. 22 Fla. Jur. 2d, Equity, §8 (1980) and various cases cited therein.

Finally, the Respondent should be estopped from asserting her right to 40% of the subject insurance proceedings and 40% of the common elements (including the land where the building once stood) since, as the trial court found, this was not the understanding of the Respondent or any of the other owners. R. 385-388. The Respondent should also be estopped to deny reformation since she has continuously accepted the benefits of paying less toward her share of the common expenses than is now asserted by her to be her interest. To find otherwise and reverse the trial court and affirm the appellate court would permit the Respondent to gain substantially by the fire which destroyed the condominium building thereby unjustly enriching the Respondent to the detriment of her "fellow" unit owners. The parties will thus be placed in status quo to meet with the prior

understanding of all parties, including Respondent, by affirming the decision of the trial court. To provide the Appellant more than she herself felt she was entitled to would not result in placing everyone in status quo but would unjustly enrich the Respondent.

CONCLUSION

The Fifth District Court of Appeals erred in holding that Condominium Declarations are not subject to reformation on account of mistake or scrivener's error. This case in in direct conflict with the Second District Court's decision in Clearwater Key Association—South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) wherein the court stated that condominium declarations are subject to reformation. Other courts have also held that equity requires courts to reform instruments of a similar nature where errors are found. Because of the reasons and authorities set forth in this Brief, it is submitted that the appellate decision in the present case is erroneous and that the conflicting decision of the District Court of Appeal for the Second District (Clearwater Key) is correct and should be approved by the Court as the controlling law of the State.

Petitioner, therefore, requests this Court to quash the decision of the Fifth District Court and approve the conflicting decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District, as the law of Florida, and grant such other and further relief as shall deem right and proper to this Honorable Court.