OA 10-29-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

8.72°

PROVIDENCE SQUARE ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner,

vs.

CONNIE BIANCARDI,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

Case No.: 68,304

Fifth District Court of Appeal No.: 84-461

Trial Court Case No.: 84-6844-CA-03

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michael S. May, Esquire Attorney for Respondent 218-E East New York Avenue DeLand, Florida 32724 (904) 734-5550

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeals found that a Declaration of Condominium could be amended or changed provided the proper statutory prerequisites were met. The Fifth District Court of Appeals did not find that condominium declarations are not subject to reformation and this certainly, is not the law of the State of Florida. The Condominium Act, and specifically, Fla. Stat. 718.110(4), provide for the amendment of the declaration of condominium of a condominium in those instances in which proportionate share of the common elements is to be changed. This is the controlling provision of law and must be adhered to as the Fifth District Court of Appeals expressed. The case of Clearwater Key Association - South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), likewise, found that the provisions of the Condominium Act are controlling and must be adhered to. This was the very result of their decision. The present Court has, likewise, held that the Condominium Act must be followed and that it is the controlling law in regard to condominiums. Century Village, Inc. v. Wellington, 361 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1978); Towerhouse Condominium, Inc. v. Millman, 475 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1985).

The very statutory provisions found in Fla. Stat. 718.110(4) which controlled the amendment of the Declaration when the percentage of common element ownership is affected, have also been found as controlling in the amendment of a condominium declaration by the very same Second District Court of Appeal, which ruled upon the <u>Clearwater Key Association – South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker</u>, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In a more recent case, such Court clears up any confusion as to the view of that Court and any apaprent diversity of opinion, as urged by the Petitioner, <u>Beau Monde, Inc. v. Bramson</u>, 446 So.2d 164 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Such adherence to the provisions of Fla. Stat. 718.110(4) has been clearly followed by the Court of the Second District Court of Appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal, <u>Towerhouse Condominium</u>, Inc. v. Millman, 410 So.2d 926 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), and in the present case here upon review, by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

This Court should follow the consistent views of each of such District Courts and find that the holding of the Fifth District Court that, in order to reform a declaration of condominium, the statutory prerequistites must be followed. Such a finding would not be in conflict with the <u>Clearwater</u> court but would be in accord with the <u>Clearwater</u> court and the holding of that court in the case of <u>Beau Monde</u>, <u>Inc. v. Bramson</u>, 446 So.2d 164 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) and would, therefore, uphold the view of the Second District Court of Appeal when amendment is made to a declaration of condominium changing the percentage of ownership of the common elements.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals further found that there was no mutual mistake. Such a finding is buttressed by the record reflecting that the Respondent relied on the recorded Declaration of Condominium and that she owned her two units in a five unit condominium, for a short two months prior to its destruction by fire (R 124, 374, 386). Respondent was not aware of any charges for other units as their contribution for taxes, maintenance or other charges (R 144, 147, 146). The only information available to Respondent was that contained in her sale closing statements with no evidence of the charges against other units for purposes of comparison (R 165, 166). There was, therefore, no mutual mistake and the Fifth District Court of Appeal found and this Court should uphold that finding.

Respondent would further urge this Court to find that the level of proof demonstrated by the very Final Judgment of the lower court (R 387) was found to be a preponderance of evidence. This is insufficient as a basis for reformation as has consistently been found by the courts in Bell Corporation v. Bahama Bar and Restaurant, Inc., 74 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1954) and Palilla v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company, 322 So.2d 46 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). The trial court further found that, upon changing the Declaration of Condominium, the Petitioner was the prevailing party. The Fifth District Court of Appeal disallowed such reformation of the Declaration of Condominium and, therefore, the Respondent would be the prevailing party. The Petitioner should not be deemed the prevailing party even if such reformation were allowed because the action, as initially instituted, to uphold the provisions of the Declaration of Condominium, were as they existed at the time of initiation and at the time when the Declaration of Condominium was recorded both in the Public Records of Volusia County, Florida and in Tallahassee, Florida. Straight's Trust v. Commissioner, 245 F.2d 327, 330 (8th Cir. 1957).

I. QUESTION

DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT A DECLARATION OF CONDO-MINIUM MUST BE AMENDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FLORIDA STATUTES?

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT A DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM MAY BE AMENDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FLORIDA STATUTES.

Petitioner states at page 6 of its brief:

The Fifth District Court of Appeals reversed the Judgment of the trial court determining that condominium declarations are not subject to reformation on account of mistake or scriveners error.

This was not the finding of the District Court. In fact, the District Court found that condominium declarations could be reformed or amended, but in order to do so, there must be an amendment in accordance with the proper statutory prerequisites.

The Petitioner consistently characterizes the error existent in the present Declaration of Condominium as a mistake of a scrivener. A scrivener is defined by BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 1515 (5th ed. 1979), as one who transcribes writings. The error in the present circumstance is not one of transcription of writing. The error, if any, is in a substantive matter of the percentage of ownership of each unit owner of a condominium when there are five condominium units and twenty (20%) percent ownership of the common elements is ascribed to each unit owner when it was allegedly intended that two of the units should hold an interest ownership equal to that of any one of the remaining condominium units, or twelve and a half (12 $\frac{1}{2}$ %) percent each.

This clearly is not a scrivener's error, but an error in the substance

of the entire Declaration of Condominium as it relates to ownership interest.

9 Fla. Jur. 2d, in speaking of a scrivener's error, has stated:

... relief may be given where, through a mistake of the scrivener, the instrument contains a clerical error, or fails to define the terms as agreed on by the parties. 9 Fla. Jur. 2d, Cancellation, Reformation and Recission of Instruments, $\frac{5}{5}$ 70 at 66.

The courts have further clarified this statement by case law in which the Supreme

Court has stated:

While equity would reform a written instrument when by a mistake it did not contain the true agreement of the parties, yet, it would only do so when the mistake was plain and the proof was full and satisfactory; that the writing should be deemed to be the sole expositor of the intent of the parties until the contrary was established beyond reasonable controversy; that such relief would not be granted where the evidence was loose, contradictory, or equivocal. Jacobs v. Parodi, 50 Fla. 541 (Fla. 1905), 39 So. 833, 837.

From this it is clear that the error contained, if any, is not a scrivener's error and if it be a scrivener's error, certainly, it is not of a nature that the Court would reform such.

The Petitioner cites the case of <u>Clearwater Key Association - South Beach</u>, <u>Inc. v. Thacker</u>, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) as standing for the proposition that declarations of condominium are subject to reformation. This does not conflict with the finding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the present case. The Fifth District Court, once again, found that declarations of condominium are subject to amendment (thus, including reformation) providing the proper statutory prerequisites are met. It should be noted that the <u>Clearwater Key</u> Association case merely stated that:

A court of equity has the power to reform an instrument to correct a draftsman's mistake. <u>Clearwater Key Association - South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker</u>, 431 So.2d 646 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). This is not inconsistent with the findings of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In fact, this is embodied in the very statutory prerequisites which have been discussed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The statutory prerequisites also provide for amendment of the Declaration of Condominium before a Circuit Court; they simply dictate the method which must be followed in seeking such amendment.

It is likewise important to note that the <u>Clearwater Key</u> Court ruled in favor of supporting the condominium statute. This is certainly what the Fifth District Court of Appeal did when it upheld an alteration or change in the Declaration of Condominium provided the same condominium statutes were followed.

The counterclaim filed by Petitioner at the trial court (R 242-250) was filed subsequent to the date of enactment of the applicable condominium provision contained in Florida Statute 718.110. This very statutory authority, in its title, provides for correction of error before the Circuit Court. Such action was never attempted by Petitioner. Clearly then, the denial which the Petitioner alleges of reformation by court, is provided for in the Statutes and is specifically acknowledged by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its decision when it states that proper statutory prerequisites must be followed. Turning to the provisions in the Florida Statute, the applicable statutory sections read as follows:

718.110 <u>Amendment of Declarations; Correction of Error or</u> Omission in Declaration by Circuit Court.

(1) If the declaration fails to provide a method of amendment, the declaration may be amended in subsection (4) or subsection
(8) if the amendment is approved by the owners of not less than two-thirds of the units.



(2) ...

(3) ...

(4) Unless otherwise provided in the declaration as originally recorded, no amendment may change the configuration or size of any condominium unit in any material fashion, materially alter or modify the appurtenances to the unit, or change the proportion or percentages by which the owner of the parcel shares in the common expenses and owns the common surplus unless the record owner of the unit and all record owners of liens on it join in the execution of the amendment and unless all the record owners of all other units approve the amendment.

- (5) ...
- (6) ...
- (7) ...
- (8) ...

(9) If there is an omission or error in a declaration of condominium, or in any other document required by law to establish the condominium, the association may correct the error or omission by an amendment to the declaration or to the other document required to create the condominium in the manner provided in the declaration to amend the declaration, or if none is provided, by vote of a majority of the voting interests.

... This procedure for amendment cannot be used if such an amendment would materially or adversely affect property rights of unit owners, unless the affected unit owners consent in writing. This subsection does not restrict the powers of the association to otherwise amend the declaration, or other documentation, but authorizes a simple process of amendment requiring a lesser vote for the purpose of curing defects, errors, or omissions when the property rights of unit owners are not materially or adversely affected.

(10) If there is an omission or error in a declaration of condominium, ... which omission or error would affect the valid existence of the condominium and which may not be corrected by the amendment procedures in the declaration or this chapter, the circuit court has jurisdiction to entertain a petition of one or more of the unit owners in the condominium, or of the association, to correct the error or omission, and the action may be a class action. The court may require that one or more methods of correcting the error or omission be submitted to the unit owners to determine the most acceptable correction. All unit owners, the association, and the mortgagees of a first mortgage of record must be joined as parties to the action. ...If an action to determine whether the declaration ... complies with the mandatory requirements for the formation of the condominium which are contained in this chapter is not brought within three years of the filing of the declaration, a declaration and other documents shall be effective under this chapter to create a condominium, However, both before and after the expiration of this three year period, the circuit court has jurisdiction to entertain a petition permitted under this subsection for the correction of the documentation, and other methods of amendment may be utilized to correct the error or omissions at any time. [Emphasis added].

The statutory provisions therefore, contemplate that under certain conditions, amendment may be made by the circuit court. This approach, however, was not taken by the Petitioner at the trial court.

It should be noted that provisions which apply to the present circumstance would be those set forth in subparagraph 4 of Section 718.110 Fla. Stat. (1985).

The provisions of subparagraph 10 would not apply because such subparagraph

was applicable only when there are no other methods for correction:

by the amendment procedures in the Declaration or this chapter. [Emphasis added]

The Clearwater court determined that it was without power to reform an

instrument

where the instrument, as reformed, would conflict in a material way with provisions of a controlling statute. <u>Clearwater Key Association - South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker</u>, 431 So.2d 641, 646 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

It would, therefore, seem to follow that if the Court was without power to reform an instrument when such reformation would conflict with the controlling statute, then it certainly seems that the same court would be bound to comply with the same controlling statutes in the very changing of the Declaration of Condominium itself. The Petitioner, in its brief at page 10, has stated:

In <u>Clearwater Key Association - South Beach, Inc. v. Thacker</u>, 431 So.2d 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the court held that a court of equity has jurisdiction to reform a paragraph of a Declaration of Condominium to correct a draftsman's mistake.

This was not the holding of the Second District Court of Appeals in the

Clearwater Key Association case. Actually, the holding in the Clearwater Key

case was to uphold the statutory provisions of the Condominium Act and to find

that charges against unit owners must be apportioned in the same amount as the

ownership of common elements and common surplus and, that court held to the

provisions of the Condominium Act which so stated. The Second District Court

of Appeal has consistently ruled in favor of upholding the Condominium Act and

the very provision contained in Section 718.110(4) for amendment of the Declaration

to be in accordance with such statutory provision. The Second District Court

has stated:

Absent consent, or amendment of Declaration of Condominium as may be provided for in such Declaration or <u>by statute</u>, enjoyment and use of such real property as set forth in the Declaration cannot be impaired or diminished. [Emphasis added] <u>Pepe v. Whispering Sands Condominium Association, Inc.</u>, 351 So.2d 755, 757, 758 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)

The Second District Court has even been more specific in its findings and has stated:

Since the action would alter or modify existing appurtenances to the Appellees' individual units without the consent of all record owners as required by 718.110(4), the attempted actions are ultra vires and, therefore, void...

The purchase of the real estate described in the lease would materially alter or modify the existing appurtenances to their condominium units we, accordingly, hold that Beau Monde's attempt to do so is governed by Section 718.110(4) and the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in the case of Towerhouse Condo., Inc. v. Millman, 410 So.2d 926 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Beau Monde, Inc. v. Bramson, 446 So.2d 164, 167 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).



Thus, the Second District Court of Appeal has clarified any interpretation of its prior cases, including the <u>Clearwater Key</u> case, which might be construed to the contrary that it does intend to enforce the Florida Statutes and any amendment would have to be in accordance with the Florida Statute as it has specifically directed in its allusion to Section 718.110(4) in which it further cites the Third District Court of Appeal. This provision specifically includes that to change a percentage of ownership in the common elements or common surplus, there must be written agreement of all unit owners. This would obviously include the Respondent in the present action and that absent such approval of the Respondent, there can be no change in the Declaration of Condominium whether such be by reformation of the court or by other means. This statement is clearly found in the view of the Second District Court of Appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal and the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

Courts, including this Court, have held that condominiums are strictly a creature of statute. <u>Suntide Condominium Association, Inc. v. Div. of Fla.</u> <u>Land Sales and Condominiums</u>, 463 So.2d 314, 317 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); concurring opinion of Justice Overton, <u>Towerhouse Condominium</u>, Inc. v. Millman, 475 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1985). This Court has held:

In Florida, condominiums are creatures of statute and as such are subject to the control and regulation of the Legislature. That body had broad discretion to fashion such remedies as it deems necessary to protect the interests of the parties involved. <u>Century Village, Inc. v. Wellington</u>, 361 So.2d 128, 133 (Fla. 1978)

Since condominiums are strictly a creature of statute, then it follows that the control of such statutorily created creatures should likewise be provided by statutes. This was exactly the view of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below. This view is further supported by cases which hold that the Declaration of

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